# 2010-CA-00137

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Mississippi Supreme Court and/or the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Willie and Julia Thompson Plaintiffs/Appellants

City of Canton Defendant/Appellee

E. Michael Marks Trial and Appellate Attorney for Appellants

Julie Ann Epps Appellate Attorney for Appellants

Kenneth Trey O'Cain Trial and Appellate Attorney for Appellees

Hon. Samac Richardson Circuit Court Judge

SO CERTIFIED BY ME, this the 12th day of July, 2010.

Statement of the Issues
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Law and Argument4
Standard of review
1. The City is not immune in this eminent domain case 5
2. The City is also liable under 42 U.S.C. § 198310
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases:

Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972) 10
Bristol v. Ocean State Job Lot Stores of Connecticut, Inc., 931 A.2d 837 (2007) 8
City of Carrollton v. Singer, 232 S.W.3d 790 (Tex.App. 2007)
City of Cleburne, Tex. V. Cleburne Living Center, 473 U.S. 432, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985)
City of Grenada v. Whitten Aviation, 755 So.2d 1208 (Miss.Ct.App.1999)9
Fortenberry v. City of Jackson, 2010 WL 522647 (Miss.App. 2010)
Fuddy Duddy's v. State Dep't Transp., 950 P.2d 773 (Nev. 1997)7
Green Realty Management Corp. v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 4 So.3d 347 (Miss. 2009)
Harrison v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 2010 WL 610655 (Miss.App. 2010)
Hutzel v. City of Jackson, 33 So.3d 1116 (Miss.2010)
Lamb v. Booneville School Dist., 2009 WL 843116 (N.D.Miss.)9
Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co., 455 U.S. 422, 102 S.Ct. 1148, 71 L.Ed.2d 265 (1982)
McLemore v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 992 So.2d 1107 (Miss. 2008)
Moss v. Batesville Casket Co., 935 So.2d 393 (Miss.2006)
New England Estates, LLC v. Town of Branford, 988 A.2d 229 (Conn. 2010) 11
Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527, 101 S.Ct. 1906, 68 L.Ed.2d 420 (1981)
Perry v. Sindermann, 408 U.S. 593, 92 S.Ct. 2694, 33 L.Ed.2d 570 (1972) 10
Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So.2d 981 (Miss.1986)

Russell v. Orr, 700 So.2d 619 (Miss.1997)
Shaffer v. West Virginia Department of Transportation, 542 S.E.2d 836 (W.Va. 2000)
Smith v. Jackson State University, 995 So.2d 88 (Miss. 2008)
State v. Montgomery County, 262 S.W.3d 439 (Tex.App. 2008)
Stranahan House, Inc. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 927 So.2d 1068(Fla.App. 2006)8
Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990)4
Webb v. Jackson, 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss.1991). )
Msc.
CJS States § 547
Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 3. Sect. 17

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The City does not have immunity in this eminent domain case.
- 2. The City is also liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Willia and Julia Thompson owned a house at 537 Thornhill Street in Canton, Mississippi. At some point, the City decided that the Thompsons' property as well as adjacent properties were to be taken by eminent domain<sup>1</sup>. The Thompsons informed the City that they desired to move the house from the property at their own expense as other property owners were allowed to do. They were first told that they could do so. They were later told by City employees Bill Patrick and Donald Lawrence that their house was situated differently from the others and that they could **not** move their home to a different location. CP. 6, 200, 239, 242. The Thompsons were paid \$55,425.00 for their house which was 75% of the appraised value. CP. 200. They were supposed to get \$18,475.00 from Increased Cost of Compliance ("ICC") representing the remaining worth of the house as well as appraisal fees, demolition costs, and attorneys fees. CP. 200. They did not get this money, though, because they had already transferred title to the City. CP. 200.

According to the City, had they moved the house to another location, ICC would have reimbursed them up to \$30,000 for the costs. CP. 200. The Thompsons did not take advantage of this opportunity because they were told by the City that they could not move the house. CP. 1, 200.

Apparently, the properties were prone to flooding and the City purchased the properties pursuant to a Hazard Mitigation Program. CP. 160.

On April 18, 2007, the City destroyed the Thompson's home and the Thompsons were presented with a bill of \$7,640.00 for the cost of the demolition. CP. 198.

The Thompsons sent the City of Canton a notice in compliance with the Tort Claims Act and then filed suit against the City on April 14, 2008, alleging various claims including breach of contract, misrepresentation, negligence, gross negligence and deprivation of property without due process of law under 42 USC § 1983. In March, 2009, the City of Canton filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that it was immune from suit pursuant to MCA § 11-46-9. The trial court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment on January 14, 2010. CP. 255. The Order did not contain any rationale for its ruling. It is from this Order that the Thompsons have filed the instant appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The City in this case argued that it was immune from suit pursuant to the sovereign immunity accorded by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. However, the law is clear that governmental entities are not immune from liability in eminent domain actions. They are not immune for ministerial acts, nor are they immune in contract actions. For all of these reasons, the City of Canton was not immune when it acted in such a way as to deprive the Thompsons of all that they were entitled to under the Hazard Mitigation Program.

Furthermore, the City is liable under 42 U.S.C. §1983 when it treated the Thompsons differently from similarly situated homeowners who were allowed to move their houses to other properties. The Thompsons were arbitrarily denied this opportunity.

For all of these reasons, the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the City was error. The City is not immune and there are material issues of fact that would preclude summary judgment in this case.

#### LAW AND ARGUMENT

#### Standard of review:

An appellate court applies a *de novo* standard of review on summary judgment rulings. *Moss v. Batesville Casket Co.*, 935 So.2d 393, 398 (Miss.2006).

According to Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, a circuit court may grant summary judgment "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." "A fact is material if it 'tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties." Webb v. Jackson, 583 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss.1991). The moving party bears the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists. Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss.1990). Additionally, the circuit court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Russell v. Orr, 700 So.2d 619, 622 (Miss.1997). Because it is generally better to err on the side of denying the motion, it has been said that the circuit court must consider motions for summary judgment with a skeptical eye. Ratliff v. Ratliff, 500 So.2d 981, 981 (Miss.1986).

#### 1. The City does not have immunity in this eminent domain case.

The doctrine of sovereignty immunity does not apply in eminent domain proceedings. CJS STATES § 547. This was made clear in the case of *McLemore v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n*, 992 So.2d 1107 (Miss. 2008). In that case, the McLemores filed suit against the Mississippi Transportation Commission (MTC) and Talbot Brothers Contracting Co., Inc., alleging a taking without just compensation in violation of the Mississippi and United States Constitutions due to flooding and siltation on real property from negligence in the construction of a highway. The trial court dismissed the McLemore's claims against the MTC finding that the statute of limitations had run under the Tort Claims Act. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed finding that eminent domain cases were not subject to the Tort Claims Act but instead were governed under Art. 3, Sect. 13 of the Mississippi Constitution which states that

Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use, except on due compensation being first made to the owner or owners thereof, in a manner to be prescribed by law; and whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be public shall be a judicial question, and, as such, determined without regard to legislative assertion that the use is public.

Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 3, Sect. 17. McLemore, 992 So.2d at 1110.

In Green Realty Management Corp. v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 4 So.3d 347 (Miss. 2009), a vendor filed suit against the Mississippi Transportation Commission (MTC), which had purchased two tracts of undeveloped land from the vendor in connection with a road-widening project. The vendor claimed that MTC's alleged future

diversion of surface water onto the vendor's remaining property constituted a taking without just compensation. The MTC filed a motion for summary judgment contending that releases in the warranty deed absolved the MTC of liability. The trial court granted summary judgment for the MTC. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed finding that there were material issues of fact regarding the MTC's procurement of the releases. If the releases were obtained by misrepresentations or illegal concealment of facts on the part of the MTC, the releases were not enforceable. *Green Realty Management Corp.*, 4 So.3d at 350.

Just as in *Green Realty Management Corp.*, the Thompsons contend that the City made material misrepresentations when purchasing their property that caused them damages. Just like the vendors in *Green Realty Management Corp.*, the Thompsons are entitled to their day in court.

Mississippi law that eminent domain disputes are not subject to a defense of sovereign immunity is in accord with the law of other states. For example, in *Shaffer v. West Virginia Department of Transportation*, 542 S.E.2d 836 (W.Va. 2000), Shaffer applied for a writ of mandamus to require the State Division of Highways (DOH) to institute eminent domain proceedings after construction of a storm water drainage system resulted in damage to her property. *Shaffer*, 542 S.E.2d at 838. DOH asserted sovereign immunity in its defense. *Shaffer*, 542 S.E.2d at 840. As did the Mississippi Supreme Court in *McLemore*, and for the same reason, the court in *Shaffer* held that the state and its subsidiaries were not immune from suit when it came to eminent domain proceedings. *Shaffer*, 542 S.E.2d at 840. West Virginia, like Mississippi, has a

constitutional provision prohibiting the taking of private property for public use without just compensation. *Id.*; W.Va.Const. Art II, Sect. 9. For this reason, the state is not entitled to immunity in eminent domain proceedings. *Id. See also State v. Montgomery County*, 262 S.W.3d 439, 443 (Tex.App. 2008) (holding that by permitting a county to condemn public land, the legislature waived the sovereign or governmental immunity of the entities condemning the land).

Indeed, an examination of Mississippi caselaw demonstrates that property owners challenge eminent domain decisions all the time and not once has the Mississippi Supreme Court held that such challenges are barred by sovereign immunity. See, e.g. Hutzel v. City of Jackson, 33 So.3d 1116 (Miss.2010); Harrison v. Mississippi Transp. Com'n, 2010 WL 610655 (Miss.App. 2010); Smith v. Jackson State University, 995 So.2d 88 (Miss. 2008).

The fact that the City did not have to institute eminent domain proceedings but was able to reach an agreement with the Thompsons does not change the result. "An agreement to sell property to a governmental authority for public purpose has the same effect as a formal condemnation proceeding." *City of Carrollton v. Singer*, 232 S.W.3d 790, 798 (Tex.App. 2007) (holding that contract was a settlement of an eminent domain proceeding such that city did not have governmental immunity). *See also Fuddy Duddy's v. State Dep't Transp.*, 113 Nev. 1452, 950 P.2d 773 (1997) (holding that land sold under threat of condemnation has the same legal effect as if the land was actually taken under

eminent domain proceedings); Bristol v. Ocean State Job Lot Stores of Connecticut, Inc., 284 Conn. 1, 931 A.2d 837 (2007) (same).

Furthermore, once the City decided to exercise eminent domain over the Thompson's property, the steps taken in furtherance of the taking would be ministerial and not discretionary and, thus, not insulated by immunity. *Stranahan House, Inc. v. City of Fort Lauderdale*, 927 So.2d 1068 (Fla.App. 2006) (city's duty to submit non-profit organizations' application to have property designated as historic landmark to board pursuant to eminent domain proceeding was ministerial). The Mississippi Tort Claims Act does not immunize ministerial acts from liability unless they are carried out with ordinary care. *Stewart ex rel. Womack v. City of Jackson*, 804 So.2d 1041, 1048 (Miss. 2002).

In Fortenberry v. City of Jackson, 2010 WL 522647 \*3 (Miss.App. 2010), homeowners sued the sued the city after their homes were flooded by sewage due to blocked city sewer lines and city's violation of regulatory standards. The trial court granted summary judgment finding that the homeowners' claims were barred by the Tort Claims Act. The Mississippi Court of Appeals reversed finding that the city's maintenance of its sewerage system in compliance with municipal subdivision ordinance and sewage-permitting standards, in addition to state and federal environmental laws, was a ministerial duty rather than a discretionary function, such that City was not immune from action for damages under the Tort Claims Act. Fortenberry, 2010 WL 522647 \*6.

In this case, the City's eminent domain purchase of the Thompsons' property was done pursuant to regulations provided by the Mississippi Emergency Management

Agency and the Hazard Mitigation Program. Had the City abided by these rules and not made misrepresentations to the Thompsons, the Thompsons would have been able to avail themselves of all the recompense they were entitled to under the Hazard Mitigation Program and they would have been able to move their house to another site with money provided by the ICC. But because the City did not use ordinary care in purchasing the Thompsons' property, the City is not entitled to immunity under the Tort Claims Act.

And, finally, the City is not entitled to immunity because the Tort Claims Act does not apply to "pure contract actions". *Lamb v. Booneville School Dist.*, 2009 WL 843116, \*1 (N.D.Miss.). When a governmental entity enters into a contract, it waives sovereign immunity from suit. *City of Grenada v. Whitten Aviation*, 755 So.2d 1208, 1213 (Miss.Ct.App.1999).

In this case, the City of Canton was taking the Thompson's property using funds obtained from a Hazard Mitigation Grant Program via the Mississippi Emergency Management Agency. Once the City exercised its discretion to decide to purchase the Thompson's property using these grant funds, the carrying out of the agreement and disbursement of such funds was ministerial. The Thompsons alleged that the City did not use ordinary care in carrying out the agreement to purchase the Thompsons property in various ways including misrepresentations as to whether the Thompsons could or could not move their house to another property and by having the Thompsons sign over their property to the City and thereby waive their ability to get additional funds from the ICC. The Thompsons suffered damages in that their house was appraised at \$73,900.00 (CP. 119) but they received only \$55,425.00 and a bill for \$7,640.00.

Had the City exercised ordinary care, the Thompsons would have received all that there were entitled to under the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program including the ICC funds.

The City has admitted that there are factual disputes in this case, for instance the Thompson's allegation that the City told them they could move their home and then reversed its position to declare that the Thompsons could not move their home. CP. 120. The City's position is that these disputes are immaterial inasmuch as the Thompsons' claims are barred by the Tort Claims Act. However, the law is clear that the City is not entitled to sovereign immunity in this eminent domain dispute. The existence, then, of material issues of fact means that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the City.

## 2. The City is also liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Before a person can be deprived of his property by the State, it must accord that person due process. *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972) and *Perry v. Sindermann*, 408 U.S. 593, 92 S.Ct. 2694, 33 L.Ed.2d 570 (1972). The denial of predeprivation and/or postdeprivation hearings or remedies for property rights can violate Fourteenth Amendment due process and equal protection. *See Parratt v. Taylor*, 451 U.S. 527, 101 S.Ct. 1906, 68 L.Ed.2d 420 (1981) and *Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co.*, 455 U.S. 422, 102 S.Ct. 1148, 71 L.Ed.2d 265 (1982).

Furthermore, the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment commands that no State shall deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal

protection of the laws, which is essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike. *City of Cleburne, Tex. V. Cleburne Living Center*, 473 U.S. 432, 439, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985). In this case, the Thompsons allege that they were treated differently from similarly situated persons in that pother homeowners whose properties were purchased pursuant to the Hazard Mitigation Program were allowed to move their homes while the Thompsons were denied this opportunity. In *New England Estates, LLC v. Town of Branford*, 988 A.2d 229 (Conn. 2010), the court held that landowners could bring a Sect. 1983 action against the town based on, among other things, the town's actions in denying them permits despite prior approval of a similar development. *New England Estates, LLC.*, 988 A.2d at 248.

#### Conclusion

The law is clear that the City is not immune from suit in this eminent domain lawsuit. Since the City is not immune and there exist material questions of fact, the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the City was error and must be reversed.