IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIE THOMPSON AND JULIA THOMPSON

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00137

CITY OF CANTON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

[ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI]

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

> ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED <

J. MICHAEL COLEMAN, ESQUIRE (MSB NO WILKINS TIPTON, P.A. Post Office Box 13429

Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429 Telephone: (601) 366-4343

Telefax: (601) 981-7608

Email: mcoleman@wilkinstipton.com

Attorneys for Appellee, The City of Canton, Mississippi

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

Nevertheless, more than one year following their sale of the house and property to Canton, the Thompsons sent notice in accordance with the Mississippi Tort Claim Act, and, thereafter, suit was filed on April 14, 2008. R. 6. The Complaint sets forth claims of breach of contract, vicarious liability, misrepresentation, negligence, gross negligence, and deprivation of constitutional rights cognizable under 42 U.S.C. §1983. R. 6-13. All of these claims are premised on Thompsons' contention that the City of Canton refused to allow the Thompsons to take possession of and/or move their house after the Thompsons had sold it to Canton on November 18, 2005 and prior to its demolition on April 18, 2007. *Id.* Furthermore, even though they had sold the house and property to Canton, the Thompsons contend that the City of Canton wrongfully took the salvage of the house from the demolition and wrongfully deprived Thompsons of their property. *Id.*

Again, the home *was* demolished by Canton, but this was done approximately one and a half years after the City of Canton acquired title to the property. Thus, the Thompsons essentially claim that Canton was grossly negligent and violated the Thompsons' constitutional rights when Canton destroyed its own property. After all, the Thompsons had voluntarily entered into a federal program through which the sale of their home and property to Canton was subsidized. The Thompsons were paid for their home and property through that program, and then the Thompsons deeded the house and property to Canton on November 18, 2005. The house was not destroyed until April of 2007, and the Thompsons did not file suit until April of 2008.

In response to that suit, Canton filed an Answer which raised Sovereign Immunity under MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-46-9 as an affirmative defense. R. 25. Following discovery, the City of Canton filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment on January 14, 2010. R. 255. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As their primary argument, the Thompsons assert that immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"), is not applicable to eminent domain actions, contract actions, and ministerial acts. *Appellants' Brief* at pp. 3, 5-10. The Thompsons rely heavily throughout their brief on the argument that the MTCA does not apply in eminent domain actions. However, this suit is not an eminent domain action. Likewise, this case is not a "pure contract" case. The facts do not support the notion that the Thompsons' claims sound in contract, and immunity afforded by the MTCA certainly applies here. In fact, the Thompsons themselves admitted in their Complaint that the MTCA controls this action. *See Complaint* at R. 7.

Additionally, the Thompsons made the eminent domain argument for the first time on appeal. The Thompsons failed entirely to assert this in the trial court in connection with their response to Canton's Motion for Summary Judgment, and this Court has held on many occasions that issues not raised at the lower court will not be considered on appeal. That is the case here.

With regard to the Thompsons' § 1983 claim, there is no proof in the record that a policy of Canton caused the alleged constitutional harm. In fact, the Thompsons' allegation is that Canton's act of demolishing a house on one occasion was violative of the Constitution. Single acts of negligence are not sufficient to support a prima facie case under § 1983.

The simple fact is that the Circuit Court properly awarded summary judgment to Canton. Because of the immunity afforded to Canton under the MTCA, and because the Thompsons could not, as a matter of law, establish their prima facie case on any of their claims, there are no material facts in this case, and summary judgment in favor of Canton was proper.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The Thompsons correctly state the standard of review. However, Canton would also point out that "Immunity is a question of law." *City of Laurel v. Williams*, 21 So.3d 1170, 1174 (¶ 15)(Miss. 2009) (citing *Miss. Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Durn*, 861 So.2d 990, 994 (Miss. 2003) (citing *Mitchell v. City of Greenville*, 846 So.2d 1028, 1029 (Miss. 2003)). And, there are no material issues of fact when the defendants are entitled to immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"). *See Vo v. Hancock County*, 989 So.2d 414, ¶17-18 (Miss. App. 2008). Likewise, "when a party opposing summary judgment on a claim or defense as to which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, fails to make a showing sufficient to establish an essential element of the claim or defense, then all other facts are immaterial, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Moore ex rel. Moore v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co.*, 863 So.2d 43, (¶15) (Miss. 2003) (citing *Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 515 So.2d 678, 684 (Miss. 1987)).

II. THIS IS NOT AN EMINENT DOMAIN ACTION, AND THE MTCA CONTROLS.

The Thompsons each executed a letter memorializing the disputed and undisputed facts of the dispute between themselves and the City of Canton. R.119-122. This was done by Mrs. Thompson on February 1, 2006 and by Mr. Thompson on February 13, 2006. *Id.* Among the items they acknowledged reading and understanding were the following:

 "In the fall of 2004, the City and the Thompsons began the process of applying to MEMA for a grant to provide funds to the City for [sic] the purchase of the residence and lot owned by the Thompsons, which is located in an area prone to flooding."
 R.119 at paragraph 1. of "Undisputed Facts."

- 2. "The transaction was closed on the 18th day of November, 2005, when Mr. And Mrs. Thompson signed a Warranty Deed conveying title to the property to the City of Canton." R.120 at paragraph 6. of "Undisputed Facts."
- 3. "On that date, a check from the City was delivered to Mr. And Mrs. Thompson in the sum of \$55,425.00, a copy of which is attached hereto, as well as a copy of a disclaimer signed by Mr. And Mrs. Thompson at closing." Id. at paragraph 7.

The Thompsons' execution of this letter, especially when coupled with the Statement of Voluntary Participation they signed (R. 196), clearly establishes that the Thompsons were involved in the MEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program voluntarily. The execution of this letter also corroborates the fact that the Thompsons transferred title of the property in question to Canton. There is nothing contained within this acknowledgment that indicates that Canton was exercising its eminent domain power. The facts remain undisputed that this was at all times a voluntary transaction entered into by all parties and that title to the property was legally vested in Canton as of November 18, 2005.

The Appellants received their compensation as proved by with the guidelines and agreement between these parties, and they executed a deed at closing, which served to legally transfer title to the property to Canton. R.88-89. And, although the house which formerly belonged to the Thompsons was not demolished until April 18, 2007 (R.108, ¶6), there is nothing in the record to reflect any action by the Thompsons to move the house between November 18, 2005, the date of legal transfer of the property to Canton, and the date of demolition. Most importantly, there is nothing in the record to reflect that Appellants did anything before or after the November 18, 2005 closing to relocate the house. The facts of this case and the ultimate destruction of the house, which was then owned by Canton, in no way constitutes an exercise of eminent domain by Canton.

Eminent domain actions are specific actions governed by specific statutes, and carried out before a specially convening court. *See* MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-27-1 (2010), *et seq.* For example, the Mississippi Code provides, "Any person or corporation having the right to condemn private property for public use shall exercise that right as provided in this chapter, except as elsewhere specifically provided under the laws of the state of Mississippi." MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-27-1 (2010). Regarding the procedure for eminent domain actions, the Code provides:

Any person or corporation having the right to condemn private property for public use shall file a complaint to condemn with the circuit clerk of the county in which the affected property, or some part thereof, is situated and shall make all the owners of the affected property involved, and any mortgagee, trustee or other person having any interest therein or lien thereon a defendant thereto. The complaint shall be considered a matter of public interest and shall be a preference case over other cases except other preference causes. The complaint shall describe in detail the property sought to be condemned, shall state with certainty the right to condemn, and shall identify the interest or claim of each defendant.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-27-5 (2010).

None of this was done in the present case. Instead, this case involves a voluntary transaction between the parties, and at no time was there ever a threat of condemnation of the property at issue. Canton assisted the Thompsons in selling their home and property through the MEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Program, and the Thompsons could have walked away from the transaction without ever facing the chance of losing their home or property. R. 196-197. Moreover, the Thompsons signed a "Statement of Voluntary Participation" though which they expressly acknowledged that Canton had agreed *not to use its power of eminent domain* to purchase the property at issue. *Id*.

The Thompsons rely heavily on *McLemore v. Miss. Transp. Comm'n*, 992 So. 2d 1107 (Miss. 2008) for their argument that the MTCA should not apply in the present case. However, *McLemore*

¹ In fact, *McLemore* is the only Mississippi case cited by the Thompsons which does not deal directly with what is acknowledged as an actual eminent domain action. And even

is easily distinguishable from the present case in that the McLemores' suit arose after the McLemores had been compensated initially in and *eminent domain action*. *Id.* at ¶[2-5.

McLemore was not a case about a voluntary transaction and subsequent alleged negligence or negligent misrepresentations. The McLemores did not voluntarily enter into a transaction for the purchase of their property, as the Thompsons did here. In fact, the entire dispute arose as an extension of the McLemores' eminent domain claims, which had already been adjudicated in an eminent domain action. In other words, the McLemores had already been compensated once in an eminent domain action, and although they brought a negligence claim against the contractor, they also sought additional eminent domain relief from the Mississippi Transportation Commission ("MTC").

As the *McLemore* court noted, "While there is an argument that this Court has distinguished cases involving negligence claims, such argument is not applicable here. The negligence claims in the instant case pertain to Talbot [the contractor]. The action against MTC is for taking without just compensation pursuant to the constitution." *Id.* at ¶11. Moreover, when it noted this distinction, the Court had already pointed out that the "constitutional provision [at issue] is only applicable in cases involving property taken for public use." *Id.* at ¶10.

The present case does not involve the uncompensated taking of private land for public use. This case arises from a voluntary transaction in which the Thompsons sold their property to Canton, and they were compensated for it. The transaction required that all structures on the property be demolished. There was a miscommunication (or as alleged by the Thompsons, a negligent misrepresentation) concerning whether the Thompsons would be able to retain and move the house

McLemore started as an eminent domain case related to the purchase of land for a highway project. See McLemore, 992 So.2d 1107 at ¶¶2-4. The claim ultimately at issue was for additional takings due to run-off and siltation related to that construction project. Id.

situated on the transferred property, but when they had not done so over a year and half after title was deeded to Canton, Canton exercised its discretion in light of public policy, and demolished the house.

R.119-122. At worst, the facts of this case demonstrate possible negligence on the part of Canton.

Canton denies this. However, as is discussed more fully below, Canton is immune from suit related to any such negligence claims, and summary judgment was proper.

In addition to *McLemore*, the Thompsons cite a Texas case for the proposition that an agreement to sell property to a governmental authority is the equivalent of an eminent domain action. However, by the Thompsons' own admission, that case dealt with a contract to *settle an eminent domain action*. *See Appellants' Brief* at p. 7. In the present case, Canton never asserted its eminent domain power, nor did it ever threaten to do so. In fact, as set out above, the Thompsons expressly acknowledged that they understood that Canton would not exercise eminent domain with regard to purchasing the Thompsons' property. *Again see* R. 196.

The other two "out-of-state" cases cited by the Thompsons also deal with sales of land made under the threat of condemnation. There was no threat of condemnation here. As cited above, the transaction at issue was completely voluntary, and Canton had expressly agreed not to exercise its powers of eminent domain.

Simply put, the Thompsons voluntarily entered into this transaction through the Hazard Mitigation Program. Canton facilitated the transaction, with the Thompsons' consent and cooperation, in order to ensure the guidelines were satisfied so that the Thompsons could receive the benefits offered through the Program. Although the eminent domain argument was not raised at any time in response to the Motion for Summary Judgment and should be stricken at this stage in the proceedings, it is clear from the record that this is not an eminent domain action, and that the MTCA controls. As noted above, the Thompsons admitted as much in their Complaint.

III. THE APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT CONCERNING EMINENT DOMAIN IS WAIVED.

This Court has repeatedly held that an issue not raised in the trial court is deemed waived and procedurally barred on appeal. *Davis v. State*, 684 So.2d 643, 658 (Miss. 1987); *Cole v. State*, 525 So.2d 365, 369 (Miss. 1987), *cert. denied, Cole v. Mississippi*, 488 U.S. 934, 109 S.Ct. 330, 102 L.Ed.2d 348 (1988). In fact, this Court very recently said, "One of the most fundamental and long-established rules of law in Mississippi is that the [appellate court] will not review matters on appeal that were not raised at the trial court level." *Jackson v. State*, 2010 Miss. LEXIS 170 (Miss. Apr. 1, 2010) (citing *Shaw v. Shaw*, 603 So. 2d 287, 292 (Miss. 1992)).

The Thompsons' argument that the underlying transaction is somehow an eminent domain action, and that therefore immunity under the MTCA does not attach, was raised for the first time on appeal.² It was not raised or argued in response to Canton's Motion for Summary Judgment and the trial court never had an opportunity to make a ruling on that issue. Likewise, Canton had no opportunity to respond at the trial court level. Furthermore, the Thompsons did not raise this argument in the Notice of Appeal filed following the trial court's grant of Summary Judgment, nor was it raised via motion following the summary judgment. Therefore, this argument should be stricken from the Appellants' Brief altogether, and not considered in this appeal.

² The only place in the record in which eminent domain is even mentioned is at R. 7, which is page two of the Thompsons' Complaint. Paragraph 6 of the Thompsons' Complaint, under the heading "Facts," states, "Plaintiffs' home was taken by imminent [sic] domain." Of course, this "fact" is belied by the Thompsons' express acknowledgment that Canton was not exercising eminent domain, but more importantly, none of the causes of action in the Complaint allege eminent domain, and in response to Canton's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Thompsons did not argue eminent domain.

IV. THE THOMPSONS' CLAIMS DO NOT SOUND IN CONTRACT, AND THIS WAS NOT A "PURE CONTRACT ACTION."

First, the argument that immunity is not afforded to Canton under the facts of this case because this is a "pure contract" case, was also raised for the first time on appeal. In response to Canton's Motion for Summary Judgment, the only argument made by the Thompsons regarding sovereign immunity was that negligent and grossly negligent misrepresentations were made by Canton. R. 231-235. The argument made by the Thompsons was that while immunity is afforded to Canton when it uses ordinary care, the conduct in this case fell beyond that standard. *Id.* The trial court disagreed. Nowhere did the Thompsons argue that the MTCA did not apply because the case is a pure contract action. Therefore, that argument is waived pursuant to the case law cited above.

Secondly, the real underlying claim here is that Canton demolished the Thompsons' house after Canton allegedly said that, despite the fact it was deeded to Canton, the Thompsons could take possession of the house and move it to another location. *Again, see* R. 231-235. Putting aside for a moment the fact that the Thompsons waited a year and a half after they deeded the house and property to Canton to complain about this, the Court should note that the Thompsons have not produced, and the record does not contain, a contract in which Canton agreed to allow Appellants to take possession of or move this house. Any such agreement by Canton, had it existed, would have been gratuitous at best since the Thompsons voluntarily deeded the house and property in question to Canton. The lack of a written contract coupled with over a year of delay on the Thompsons' part proves that Canton had no obligation to allow the Thompsons to take possession of and move the house.

Further, the Thompsons failed to present the trial court with sufficient proof to establish that they could support a prima facie case for breach of contract. In fact, they did not even try. The argument made in response to Canton's Motion for Summary Judgment, related to alleged negligence

and/or gross negligence. No proof was presented with regard to an alleged breach of contract, and no such argument was made. *See Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment* at R. 231-237.

As noted above, "when a party opposing summary judgment on a claim or defense as to which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, fails to make a showing sufficient to establish an essential element of the claim or defense, then all other facts are immaterial, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Moore ex rel. Moore v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co.*, 863 So.2d 43, (¶15)(Miss. 2003) (citing *Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 515 So.2d 678, 684 (Miss.1987)). Because there is no evidence of a contract in the record, and because the argument is being made for the first time on appeal, the Thompsons' argument that the summary judgment was not proper because the MTCA does not apply in pure contract actions must fail.

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